

Distr.: General 4 August 2014 Russian

Original: English and French

Совет по правам человека

Двадцать седьмая сессия
Пункт 3 повестки дня
Поощрение и защита всех прав человека,
гражданских, политических, социальных,
экономических и культурных прав,
включая право на развитие

Доклад Рабочей группы по произвольным задержаниям

Добавление

Миссия в Марокко* **

Резюме

Рабочая группа по произвольным задержаниям совершила поездку в Марокко 9–18 декабря 2013 года.

В ходе поездки члены Рабочей группы имели возможность наблюдать предпринимаемые правительством усилия по восстановлению и укреплению культуры прав человека в Марокко. Группа с удовлетворением отмечает, что после ее поездки в этой стране был продолжен масштабный процесс структурных реформ.

GE.14-10002 (R) 110814 110814





^{*} Кроме того, 15 и 16 декабря 2013 года Рабочая группа посетила Эль-Аюн в Западной Сахаре, отправившись туда в качестве независимого мандатария, и ее поездку не следует понимать как выражение какого-либо политического мнения по вопросу о нынешнем или будущем статусе неавтономной территории Западной Сахары. Право на самоопределение применяется к этой территории на основании принципов, изложенных в резолюциях 1514 (XV) и 1541 (XV) Генеральной Ассамблеи.

^{**} Резюме настоящего доклада распространяется на всех официальных языках. Доклад, содержащийся в приложении к резюме, распространяется только на том языке, на котором он был представлен, и на английском языке.

Рабочая группа выражает удовлетворение в связи с принятием в июле 2011 года Конституции, явившейся важным шагом на пути укрепления прав человека, и с созданием Национального совета по правам человека (НСПЧ) в качестве независимого национального учреждения по поощрению и защите прав человека.

В случаях, которые затрагивали сферу государственной безопасности (терроризм, принадлежность к исламистским движениям или поддержка независимости Западной Сахары), Рабочая группа констатировала наличие практики применения пыток и жестокого обращения со стороны сотрудников полиции, в частности сотрудников Генерального управления территориального надзора (ГУТН), при аресте и в период содержания под стражей. Многие лица под принуждением дали признательные показания, на основании которых были осуждены к тюремному заключению.

Отмечая, что в статье 23 Конституции непосредственно предусмотрено, что произвольное или тайное содержание под стражей и насильственное исчезновение являются особо тяжкими преступлениями, и принимая к сведению осуществляемые меры по борьбе с такими видами практики, Рабочая группа получила из признанных надежными источников информацию о прошлых и нынешних случаях тайного содержания под стражей, которые требуют более тщательного расследования. Наряду с этим Рабочая группа получила информацию, согласно которой Марокко предположительно являлось страной происхождения, транзита и назначения для «тайных операций по выдаче подозреваемых», проводившихся в рамках международной борьбы с терроризмом.

Рабочая группа также получила сообщения о росте числа массовых арестов и случаев проявления насилия со стороны сотрудников органов безопасности в отношении мигрантов и просителей убежища, в частности на севере страны.

Несмотря на действие законодательных положений, гарантирующих доступ к адвокату в течение 24 часов после ареста по делам об уголовных преступлениях, эта норма, по-видимому, не вполне применяется на практике. Кроме того, необходима санкция Королевского генерального прокурора. Рабочая группа констатирует, что, согласно Закону о борьбе с терроризмом (№ 03-03), срок задержания составляет 96 часов и может дважды продлеваться без права на помощь адвоката, за исключением одной получасовой беседы, проходящей под наблюдением, которая может состояться в середине этого 12-дневного срока.

Рабочая группа отмечает, что судебные органы Марокко широко опираются на признательные показания в качестве главного источника доказательств виновности. Согласно международному праву, статья 293 Уголовнопроцессуального кодекса предусматривает, что любое признание или заявление, сделанное под принуждением, является неприемлемым. Однако жалобы свидетельствуют о том, что государственные должностные лица применяют пытки для получения доказательств или признаний на начальном этапе допросов, особенно по делам о терроризме или по делам, затрагивающим сферу национальной безопасности.

Рабочая группа также отмечает чрезмерное использование предварительного заключения. В целом содержание под стражей как карательная мера, по-видимому, до сих пор является скорее правилом, нежели исключением. Налицо нехватка вариантов, альтернативных содержанию под стражей. След-

ствием такого положения является переполненность тюрем, представляющая собой серьезную проблему, которая нуждается в решении.

Хотя статья 460 Уголовно-процессуального кодекса гласит, что сотрудник судебной полиции по делам несовершеннолетних должен поместить несовершеннолетнего в центр содержания под стражей, предназначенный для лиц этой возрастной группы, Рабочая группа констатировала наличие в обычных тюрьмах значительного числа детей в возрасте от 14 лет. В сообщениях указывается, что органы прокуратуры редко требуют мер, альтернативных заключению под стражу, которые предусмотрены в статьях 501 - 504 Уголовно-процессуального кодекса. Кроме того, несовершеннолетние нередко остаются под стражей в течение длительных периодов времени, прежде чем их переводят в один из центров защиты детства.

Что касается Эль-Аюна в Западной Сахаре, то Рабочая группа получила многочисленные жалобы на произвольное задержание и с указанием о том, что для получения признаний применяются пытки и жестокое обращение. Группе также поступили жалобы на систематическое чрезмерное применение силы при разгоне манифестаций и аресте демонстрантов, выступающих за самоопределение народа Западной Сахары.

В конце доклада Рабочая группа формулирует для правительства ряд основных рекомендаций.

Annex

[English and French only]

Report of the Working Group on Arbitrary Detention on its visit to Morocco (9-18 December 2013)

Contents

		Paragraphs	Page
I.	Introduction	1–3	5
II.	Programme of the visit	4–8	5
III.	Overview of institutional and legal framework	9–15	6
	A. Political, administrative and judicial structure	9–10	6
	B. International human rights obligations	11–12	6
	C. National legislation	13–15	7
IV.	Findings	16–70	7
	A. Positive aspects	16–20	6
	B. Cases involving allegations of terrorism or threats against national	1	
	security	21–28	8
	C. Confessions obtained under torture	29–41	9
	D. Basic legal safeguards	42–46	11
	E. Excessive use of detention on remand	47–50	12
	F. Irregularities in the records	51	12
	G. Juveniles in conflict with the law	52–55	13
	H. Detention of asylum seekers and migrants in an irregular situation	56–59	13
	I. Psychiatric institutions	60–61	14
V.	Laâyoune, Western Sahara	62–71	14
VI.	Conclusions	72–82	15
VII.	Recommendations	83	16

I. Introduction

- 1. The Working Group on Arbitrary Detention conducted an official visit to Morocco from 9 to 18 December 2013, at the invitation of the Government. The Working Group also visited Laâyoune, Western Sahara, on 15 and 16 December 2013.
- 2. The delegation was composed of the Working Group's Chair-Rapporteur, Mads Andenas (from Norway), its former Chair-Rapporteur, El Hadji Malick Sow (from Senegal) and Roberto Garretón (from Chile). They were accompanied by members of the secretariat of the Working Group from the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, as well as interpreters of the United Nations Office in Geneva.
- 3. The Working Group would like to thank the Government of Morocco for extending an invitation to the Working Group to visit the country and for its full cooperation throughout the various stages of the mission. The Moroccan authorities provided the delegation with all the necessary information and arranged all the meetings it requested. The Working Group would also like to thank the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and the United Nations Mission for the Referendum in Western Sahara (MINURSO) for their comprehensive support during the visit.

II. Programme of the visit

- 4. The Working Group benefited from various meetings with State authorities and it appreciates the valuable information they provided. The Working Group met with the Ministers of Justice, the Interior and Health, the Minister in Charge of Moroccans Living Abroad and Migration Affairs, and the Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs. It also met with the First President and the Chairs of the Chambers of the Supreme Court, and the First President and the Chairs of the Chambers of the Court of Appeal. It also met with representatives of the General Delegation for Prison Administration and Reintegration and of the Office of the Crown Prosecutor-General before the Court of Cassation; representatives of the General Directorate of National Security; the Delegate and personnel of the Interministerial Delegation for Human Rights; the President and members of the National Human Rights Council (CNDH) and representatives of the regional offices of CNDH; and the President of the Moroccan Bar Association. It further met with representatives of United Nations agencies and non-governmental organizations and with victims of arbitrary detention and their relatives.
- 5. In Laâyoune, Western Sahara, the Working Group met with the region's Wali (Governor) and with representatives of the General Directorate of National Security, the Royal Gendarmerie, the General Delegation for Prison Administration and Reintegration and the regional commission of CNDH. In addition, it met with representatives of the Sahrawi population, representatives of civil society organizations and victims of arbitrary detention and their relatives. The Working Group also met with a senior official of MINURSO.
- 6. The Working Group extends its thanks to the Interministerial Delegation for Human Rights for facilitating its visit and expresses its appreciation to the Government for providing it with unimpeded access to all detention facilities, in accordance with the terms of reference for fact-finding missions by special rapporteurs (E/CN.4/1998/45, appendix V).
- 7. The Working Group visited places where persons are deprived of their liberty in Casablanca, Rabat, Salé and Tangiers, and in Laâyoune, Western Sahara. The facilities visited by the Working Group were the Salé 1 and Salé 2 prisons, the local prisons in

Tangiers and Tetoyan, the Ain Sebaâ ("Oukacha") local prison and the Centre for the Rehabilitation of Minors in Casablanca. The Working Group also visited the Al Maarif National Brigade of the Judicial Police in Casablanca, the transit zone of Mohamed V International Airport, the Temara Centre for the Protection of Children and the Ar-Ramzi University Hospital Psychiatric Centre. In addition, it made unannounced visits to police stations. It also visited the local prison in Laâyoune. The Working Group would like to point out that it was allowed to visit all the places of detention it had requested, and to interview in private detainees of its choice, without any restriction.

8. The Working Group shared its preliminary findings with the Government on 18 December 2013, at the conclusion of its visit. The Working Group also shared an advance version of the report with the Government, which provided comments on 6 and 15 July 2014 that were taken into consideration before the report was finalized.

III. Overview of the institutional and legal framework

A. Political, administrative and judicial structure

- 9. Morocco is a constitutional monarchy with a bi-cameral parliament. The upper house is the Chamber of Counsellors, with 270 seats. Its members are elected indirectly by local councils, professional organizations and labour unions to serve nine-year terms. The lower house is the Chamber of Representatives. It has 395 seats, and members are elected by popular vote to serve five-year terms. The King appoints the Head of Government from the party that wins the most seats in parliamentary elections; appoints all members of the Government on the basis of the Head of Government's recommendations; and may, at his discretion, terminate the tenure of any minister, dissolve the Parliament, call for new elections, or rule by decree.
- 10. The highest judicial body is the Supreme Court. Its judges are appointed by the King and are supervised by the Superior Council of the Magistrature. Morocco was ranked 80th out of 142 countries for judicial independence by Transparency International for 2011-2012.

B. International human rights obligations

- 11. According to the preamble to its 2011 Constitution, the Kingdom of Morocco commits itself to complying with the international conventions duly ratified by it, within the framework of the provisions of the Constitution and the laws of the Kingdom, while ensuring respect for its immutable national identity, and, on the publication of those conventions, [their] primacy over the internal law of the country, and to harmonize in consequence the pertinent provisions of national legislation.
- 12. Morocco has ratified most of the major international human rights instruments, including the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment. Morocco has approved a law providing for accession to the Optional Protocol to the Convention against Torture, but has not yet deposited its instrument of ratification.

www.transparency.org/country#MAR.

C. National legislation

- 13. The Constitution adopted in July 2011 guarantees the right to security of all persons and of their kin (art. 21). Furthermore, the Constitution provides for freedom of opinion, expression, speech and the press.
- 14. According to article 23 of the Constitution, no one may be arrested, detained, prosecuted or condemned outside of the cases and the forms provided by the law. Arbitrary or secret detention and enforced disappearance are crimes of the utmost gravity. They expose their authors to the most severe sanctions.
- 15. Article 22 of the Constitution stipulates that everyone shall have the right to physical and moral integrity, which shall not be undermined under any circumstances by any person, private or public; that no one shall inflict upon another, under any pretext whatsoever, any cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment which undermines their dignity; and that the practice of any form of torture, by anyone, is a crime punishable by law.

IV. Findings of the Working Group

A. Positive aspects

- 16. In the course of its visit, the Working Group noted the important and ongoing efforts of the Government to establish and consolidate a culture of human rights in Morocco. The Working Group encourages that process and expresses the hope that it will lead to the prevention and combating, in law and in practice, of any kind of violation that would constitute arbitrary deprivation of liberty. The Working Group appreciates that the extensive structural reform undertaken by Morocco to consolidate the promotion and protection of human rights has continued since its visit in December 2013.
- 17. The Constitution enshrines the primacy of international human rights law over national law, which has resulted in encouraging changes from the normative point of view. Such changes have included amendments to the Penal Code, the Code of Criminal Procedure and the laws governing the main judicial institutions and the deprivation of liberty of women, minors, persons with mental disabilities, irregular migrants and asylum seekers.
- 18. It was in that context that Morocco ratified the International Convention for the Protection of All Persons from Enforced Disappearance; that the Ministry of Justice initiated a national dialogue leading to the development of a national charter for the reform of the justice system; that the Code of Criminal Procedure was amended by Act No. 35.11 of 17 October 2011: and that the process for the ratification of the Optional Protocol to the Convention against Torture was launched.
- 19. The Working Group found that CNDH and its various regional offices are making a significant contribution to the promotion and protection of human rights in the country. In accordance with article 161 of the Constitution, CNDH was established as the independent national institution responsible for the protection and promotion of human rights, and the preservation of individual and collective freedoms. It replaces the former Advisory Council on Human Rights (CCDH), which was established in 1990 and was one of the key institutions in the democratic transition in Morocco. The Working Group encourages the Government of Morocco and civil society to maintain their commitment to strengthening CNDH and to provide it with all the necessary means to ensure its proper functioning.
- 20. Notwithstanding those positive achievements, the Working Group notes a number of issues that are of particular concern and to which it would like to draw the Government's attention.

B. Cases involving allegations of terrorism or threats against national security

- 21. The Anti-Terrorism Act (No. 03-03), adopted in the wake of the Casablanca bombings of 16 May 2003, has, as a legal framework, been responsible for numerous violations of human rights and it remains in force in its original form.
- 22. The Anti-Terrorism Act extends the time limits on custody to up to 96 hours, renewable twice. This means that detainees maybe held for up to 12 days upon written consent from the prosecution before being brought before the investigating judge. In addition, communication with a lawyer is only possible 48 hours after the renewal of custody is granted. Hence suspects may be deprived of all contact with the outside world for six days before being allowed to communicate for half an hour with a lawyer and, even then, under the control of a police officer (Code of Criminal Procedure, art. 66, para. 6). The Working Group notes that those provisions, which restrict crucial safeguards, such as early contact with counsel, significantly increase the risk of torture and ill-treatment. The Working Group also notes with concern that the definition of the crime of terrorism is rather vague.
- 23. The Working Group heard several testimonies of torture and ill-treatment in cases involving allegations of terrorism or threats against national security. In those cases, the Working Group concurs with the Special Rapporteur on torture that a systematic pattern of acts of torture and ill-treatment during the arrest and detention process can be detected.²
- 24. In such cases, it appears that suspects are often not officially registered, that they are held for weeks without being brought before a judge and without judicial oversight, and that their families are not notified until such time as the suspects are transferred to police custody in order to sign confessions. In many cases, victims are then transferred to a police station, where a preliminary investigation is opened, dated from the transfer to avoid exceeding the limits placed on the custody period.
- 25. The Working Group came across numerous cases that had occurred in the aftermath of the attacks in Casablanca in May 2003, when thousands of suspects were arrested, often by officials of the National Surveillance General Directorate (DST), and held incommunicado or at unknown places of detention. According to the Government, all places of deprivation of liberty are known, regulated and controlled by the public prosecutor or the competent administration they come under. The Working Group also heard testimonies of recently arrested terrorism suspects who had allegedly been tortured in order to extract confessions from them.
- 26. In May 2011, delegations from Parliament and CNDH reported finding no evidence of a detention facility located at the DST headquarters in Témara. However, testimonies indicate that persons are detained incommunicado at that and other locations. Article 23 of the Constitution explicitly states that secret or arbitrary detention and enforced disappearance are crimes of the utmost gravity. During its meetings with the authorities and CNDH, the Working Group was informed that such crimes had now been eliminated. However, in the course of its visit, the Working Group received allegations, by sources deemed to be credible, of past and present cases of incommunicado detention³ which would warrant further investigation.
- 27. The Working Group also received allegations that Morocco has served as a departure point, a transit country and a destination for illegal extraordinary renditions carried out in the context of the international fight against terrorism. This has been the subject of dis-

² Report of the Special Rapporteur on torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment (A/HRC/22/53/Add.2), para. 14.

The Working Group wishes to refer to the joint study on global practices in relation to secret detention in the context of countering terrorism (A/HRC/13/42) undertaken by a number of special procedures mandate holders.

- cussions with the Government. Such extraordinary renditions have allegedly been accompanied by incommunicado detention and/or detention in secret places, as well as acts of torture and ill-treatment, particularly during the questioning of suspects.
- 28. Most of the detainees convicted for terrorism-related offences are serving their sentences in the Salé 1 and Salé 2 prisons and the Tulal Prison in Meknès. The Working Group visited both prisons in Salé. In this context, it heard allegations that solitary confinement is used as a disciplinary measure, for periods ranging from several days to several weeks. Following its visit, the Working Group received information that one of the individuals interviewed during its visit had reportedly been subjected to solitary confinement for several days, allegedly as a form of reprisal.

C. Confessions obtained under torture

- 29. Article 293 of the Code of Criminal Procedure states that a confession, like any other evidence, is subject to the discretion of the judge and that any confession obtained under torture is inadmissible.
- 30. The Working Group notes the considerable importance accorded to confessions in the context of a trial. Through interviews with detainees serving long sentences, the Working Group found that confessions had often been obtained as a result of torture. Such confessions were set out in the police records and served almost exclusively as evidence for prosecution and conviction.
- 31. According to the authorities, confessions alone are not sufficient for a conviction and the provision of other corroborating material evidence is necessary. However, the Working Group learned that the minutes of the preliminary interview, as established by the police on the basis of confessions obtained under torture, are in practice rarely rejected by the trial court. Testimonies received indicate that many cases that are submitted to the courts are based solely on confessions by the accused, in the absence of material evidence.
- 32. The Working Group also learned that courts and prosecutors do not comply with their obligation to initiate an ex officio investigation whenever there are reasonable grounds to believe that a confession has been obtained through the use of torture and ill-treatment, or to order an immediate, independent medical examination (see arts. 74 (8) and 135 (5) of the Code of Criminal Procedure) if they suspect that a detainee has been subjected to ill-treatment. This is the case even if the person recants before the judge and claims to have been tortured.
- 33. It appears that judges favour an interpretation of article 291 of the Code of Criminal Procedure whereby records established by the judicial police are prima facie evidence. Such an interpretation is tantamount to reversing the burden of proof by requiring the accused to prove his innocence, which is contrary to the principle of the presumption of innocence, as stated in article 23 of the Constitution. It also creates conditions that encourage the torture and ill-treatment of suspects.
- 34. In its jurisprudence concerning Morocco, the Working Group has consistently expressed its concern with regard to convictions on the basis of confessions made in the course of a preliminary hearing. The cases of Mohamed Dihani (Opinion No. 19/2013), Abdessamad Bettar (Opinion No. 3/2013) and Mohamed Hajib (Opinion No. 40 /2012) show a pattern whereby those individuals were convicted solely on the basis of reports drawn up by the police while they were in custody, during which time they were subjected to torture. It was also on the basis of confessions obtained under torture that Ali Aarrass (Opinion No. 25/2013) was sentenced in November 2011 to a 15-year prison sentence, after having been extradited from Spain.

- 35. In that regard, the Working Group wishes to emphasize that confessions made in the absence of a lawyer are not admissible as evidence in criminal proceedings. This applies in particular to confessions made during the time spent in police custody.
- 36. The Working Group recalls the concluding observations of the Committee against Torture following its consideration of Morocco in 2011, in which the Committee expressed its concern that "under the State party's current system of investigation, confessions are commonly used as evidence for purposes of prosecution and conviction". The Committee noted "with concern that convictions in numerous criminal cases, including terrorism cases, are based on confessions, thus creating conditions that may provide more scope for the torture and ill-treatment of suspects (arts. 2 and 15)".⁴
- 37. The guarantees of a fair and equitable trial laid down in article 11 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and in article 14 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights exclude self-incrimination and grant the right to legal assistance and representation and to other measures of protection in order to ensure that no evidence is obtained by confession. Under article 14, paragraph 3 (g), of the Covenant, no person may be compelled to testify against himself or to confess guilt.
- 38. In its jurisprudence, the Human Rights Committee has stated that that provision "must be understood in terms of the absence of any direct or indirect physical or psychological coercion from the investigating authorities on the accused with a view to obtaining a confession of guilt". In its views on communication No. 1769/2008, *Bondar v. Uzbekistan*, the Committee found violations of article 14, paragraph 3 (b) and (d), on the grounds that the victim was not provided with a lawyer during the interrogation and his right to have the assistance of a lawyer of his own choosing was denied. The Committee also found a violation of article 14, paragraph 3 (g), owing to a confession being obtained under torture.
- 39. The Working Group also recalls general comment No. 32 (2007) of the Human Rights Committee, in which the Committee stated that:

article 14, paragraph 3 (g), guarantees the right not to be compelled to testify against oneself or to confess guilt. This safeguard must be understood in terms of the absence of any direct or indirect physical or undue psychological pressure from the investigating authorities on the accused, with a view to obtaining a confession of guilt. A fortiori, it is unacceptable to treat an accused person in a manner contrary to article 7 of the Covenant in order to extract a confession. Domestic law must ensure that statements or confessions obtained in violation of article 7 of the Covenant are excluded from the evidence, except if such material is used as evidence that torture or other treatment prohibited by this provision occurred, and that in such cases the burden is on the State to prove that statements made by the accused have been given of their own free will. (citations omitted) (para. 41).

⁴ Committee against Torture, CAT/C/MAR/CO/4, para. 17.

Human Rights Committee, communication No. 1033/2001, Singarasa v. Sri Lanka, para.
 7.4; also, communications No. 253/1987, Kelly v. Jamaica, para. 5.5; No. 330/1988, Berry v. Jamaica, para. 11.7; No. 912/2000, Deolall v. Guyana, para. 5.1

⁶ Committee on Human Rights, *Bondar vs. Uzbekistan*, Communication No. 1769/2008 (CCPR/C/101/D/1769/2008). See also the jurisprudence of the Inter-American Court of Human Rights, including the cases of *Tibi v. Ecuador*, Judgment of 7 September 2004, Series C, No. 114, para. 146; *Maritza Urrutia v. Guatemala*, Judgment of 27 November 2003, Series C, No. 103, para. 93; *Cantoral-Benavides v. Peru*, Judgment of 18 August 2000, Series C, No. 69, para. 104.

⁷ CCPR/C/101/D/1769/2008, para. 7.4.

⁸ Ibid, para. 7.6.

⁹ Human Rights Committee, general comment No. 32, Article 14: Right to equality before courts and tribunals and to fair trial (CCPR/C/GC/32), para. 41.

40. According to the Special Rapporteur on torture:

Interrogation should take place only at official centres and the maintenance of secret places of detention should be abolished under law. It should be a punishable offence for any official to hold a person in a secret and/or unofficial place of detention. Any evidence obtained from a detainee in an unofficial place of detention and not confirmed by the detainee during interrogation at official locations should not be admitted as evidence in court. No statement of confession made by a person deprived of liberty, other than one made in presence of a judge or a lawyer, should have a probative value in court, except as evidence against those who are accused of having obtained the confession by unlawful means. ¹⁰

41. One of the aims of the provisions of article 11 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and article 14 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights is to provide guarantees against all forms of direct or indirect, physical or psychological pressure by the authorities on the accused with a view to obtaining a confession. The right not to be compelled to testify against oneself or to confess guilt, and access to counsel and legal aid are not only measures intended for the protection of the interests of the individual, but are also measures, in the interest of society as a whole, of the trustworthiness and effectiveness of the judicial process, and of the reliability of evidence. Confessions made in the absence of legal counsel are not admissible as evidence in criminal proceedings. This applies especially to confessions made during the time spent in police custody.

D. Basic legal safeguards

42. Moroccan law provides a number of basic safeguards for persons taken into custody that are designed to prevent arbitrary detention. Article 23 of the 2011 Constitution provides that any detained person has the right to be informed immediately, in a fashion which is comprehensible to him, of the reasons for his detention, and of his rights, including the right to remain silent. The presumption of innocence and the right to an equitable process are also guaranteed in the Constitution.

Access to a lawyer

- 43. The issue of confessions obtained under torture or ill-treatment directly affects the issue of access to a lawyer during the initial phase of police interrogations, especially during police custody and in cases relating to national security or the fight against terrorism.
- 44. Article 23 of the Constitution provides that a person in custody must benefit, as soon as possible, from legal assistance and the possibility of communicating with relatives, in conformity with the law. However, immediate and direct access to a lawyer from the outset of detention is neither guaranteed under existing statutory law or in practice. The Code of Criminal Procedure (Section 66 of Act No. 35.11 of 17 October 2011) allows access to a lawyer during the first 24 hours after arrest, upon the authorization of the Prosecutor's Office, for only 30 minutes and in the presence of an investigator. At the request of the investigator, the Prosecutor's Office can delay contact with a lawyer for another 12 hours after the first 24 hours in custody.
- 45. During its meetings with police officers, the Working Group found that some of them were reluctant to inform detainees of their right to have access to a lawyer in criminal cases. Moreover, the right to have access to a lawyer within the legal time frame may even be violated simply by tampering with the record of arrest dates. Furthermore, testimonies from lawyers indicate that, in practice, they are often denied access to their clients within

¹⁰ Report of the Special Rapporteur on torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment (E/CN.4/2003/68), para. 26 (e).

the legal time frame. Hence, in the majority of cases, lawyers meet their clients only at the first hearing before the judge.

46. As mentioned above, under the procedure provided for in the Anti-Terrorism Act, police custody can last for three consecutive periods of 96 hours and during that time there is no meaningful right to a lawyer except for the monitored half-hour interview that can occur at the halfway point of those 12 days. The Working Group takes note of the existence of draft legislative amendments aimed at ensuring that a person taken into custody will have access to a lawyer more quickly. It calls upon the Government to ensure that access to a lawyer is provided from the very outset of arrest or detention, without having to obtain the authorization of the Prosecutor currently required by law. That right should be granted as a principle of law.

E. Excessive use of detention on remand

- 47. During its visits to detention facilities, the Working Group observed the excessive use of detention on remand. Moreover, in general, the use of detention as a means of punishment still seems to be the rule rather than the exception. The authorities openly acknowledged that prison overcrowding as a consequence of that situation was a problem which needed to be addressed. The Government informed the Working Group that, as of December 2013, there was a prison population of approximately 67,000 detainees (comprising both convicted and pre-trial detainees, who are not always kept separate). The Working Group was presented with conflicting figures as to the total capacity of the prison system, but the rate of overcrowding would in any case be greater than 30 per cent.
- 48. In Salé 1, with a total capacity of 3,500 places, there were 4,462 prisoners (3,115 in pre-trial detention; 1,347 convicts). In Salé 2, with a total capacity of 246 places, there were 194 prisoners (82 in pre-trial detention; 112 convicts). In the Oukacha prison in Casablanca, with a total capacity of 6,400 places, there were 8,123 prisoners (1,054 in pretrial detention; 7,069 convicts).
- 49. Overcrowding inevitably leads to serious violations, such as denial of or insufficient access to medical care, nutrition, sanitation, security and rehabilitation services. The Working Group noted that the General Delegation for Prison Administration and Reintegration had recently launched a major project to close some of the oldest prisons, build new prisons, and expand and renovate others in order to improve prison conditions.
- 50. The Working Group urges the Government to encourage the use of alternatives to detention, such as judicial or penal mediation. The Working Group recommends that a system be devised for arranging bail and making more frequent use of non-custodial penalties in the case of less serious offences.

F. Irregularities in the records

51. During its visits to police stations and police headquarters, the Working Group noted serious irregularities in the records, particularly in the administrative records of custody. The Working Group observed corrections that had been poorly made, either by hand or using correction fluid, as well as errors such as logging a release date as of a date prior to the date of entry, or simple non-recording of the release date.

G. Juveniles in conflict with the law

- 52. Moroccan criminal legislation regarding juveniles provides for a juvenile system which operates with specially trained prosecutors and judges. In practice, according to information received by the Working Group, any public prosecutor or deputy prosecutor may be responsible for the case of a juvenile.
- 53. Article 460 of the Code of Criminal Procedure provides that the judicial police officer in charge of juveniles may detain the juvenile in a dedicated place. However, the Working Group found a significant number of children,, some as young as 14 years old, in ordinary prisons. The conditions of detention of those juveniles were difficult, in part owing to the overcrowding described above. The Working Group found that 14-year-old boys were often kept in the same cell as 24-year-old men.
- 54. The General Prosecutor's Office rarely requests alternative measures of detention, as provided for in articles 501 to 504 of the Code of Criminal Procedure. In addition, juveniles often remain in custody for a long period before being admitted to a child protection centre.
- 55. The Group recommends that the Government ensure that, in the case of juvenile offenders, imprisonment remains an exceptional measure and placement in centres for the protection of children is considered a priority.

H. Detention of asylum seekers and migrants in an irregular situation

- 56. With regard to asylum seekers and migrants in an irregular situation, Morocco is a party to the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees, of 1951, and the Protocol thereto, of 1967. While recognizing the difficult situation for the authorities with regard to addressing the flow of irregular migrants, especially in the north, the Working Group wishes to express its concerns about that particularly vulnerable group.
- 57. The Working Group takes note of the legal provisions governing the expulsion of undocumented migrants, particularly Act No. 02-03 on the entry and residence of foreign nationals in Morocco. However, the Working Group received allegations of mass arrests and violence in the context of raids and the detention of migrants and asylum seekers, particularly in the north. An increasing number of foreigners have been arrested during identity checks since 2009. However, according to the Government, foreign individuals are not detained on account of their irregular situation.
- 58. The Working Group received information that undocumented migrants have been escorted to the borders or otherwise expelled, in violation of Moroccan law, without having been given the opportunity to exercise their rights. Several allegations have been made that hundreds of migrants have been abandoned in the Algerian desert without food or water. Morocco has failed to provide information about those allegations or about the places and regimes of detention used for foreign nationals awaiting deportation who do not come under the authority of the Prison Service.
- 59. The Group was informed that the Government is striving to elaborate a strategy and action plan with a view to devising a comprehensive migration policy based on full respect for human rights. To that end, the Government has established commissions on: (a) the development of a new legal and institutional framework for asylum, trafficking and immigration; (b) refugees; and (c) review and possible regularization of the status of certain irregular migrants.

I. Psychiatric institutions

- 60. The Working Group welcomes the strategic plan of the Ministry of Health and the draft law (2012) amending the old Royal Decree No. 1-58-295 with respect to the protection of persons in mental health institutions. The Working Group was informed that there are 2,042 beds for psychiatric patients throughout the country.
- 61. Article 134 of the Criminal Code stipulates that whoever commits a misdemeanour or felony as a result of mental disability must be placed in a psychiatric institution. However, perpetrators of minor infractions are handed over to the administrative authority if proven to be exempt from criminal liability, which excludes them from medical monitoring and the necessary treatment. Reports indicate that, in cases where the placement of an individual in a psychiatric institution has been decided upon, the implementation of the decision often takes a long time, which leads to situations where persons with mental illnesses remain incarcerated for excessively long periods.

V. Laâyoune, Western Sahara

- 62. The Working Group received numerous submissions and testimonies relating to the legal and political status of the territory, as well as complaints concerning a vast array of human rights violations other than arbitrary detention. It also received multiple requests for interviews, and written submissions on matters within its mandate. Consistent with the terms of reference of the mandate, the present report will not deal with allegations of human rights violations other than arbitrary detention, nor will it address issues relating to the status of Western Sahara as a Non-Self-Governing Territory.
- 63. Regarding cases within its mandate, the Working Group found that torture and illtreatment were used to extract confessions and that protestors were subjected to excessive use of force by law enforcement officials. The testimonies received indicate that members of the Sahrawi population are specifically, but not exclusively, the victims of such violations.
- 64. The Working Group received numerous complaints indicating a pattern of excessive use of force in repressing demonstrations and in arresting protestors or persons suspected of participating in demonstrations calling for self-determination of the Sahrawi population. During their transfer to or upon their arrival at a police station, people arrested are beaten, insulted and forced to reveal the names of other protestors. The Working Group received information about the alleged abandonment of the victims in rural areas after the assaults. Reports indicate that those practices are aimed at punishing and intimidating protestors in order to prevent further support for the call for independence. On occasion, protests become violent and the security forces are attacked by demonstrators. Even on those occasions, it is the duty of law enforcement bodies to ensure public order without resorting to excessive violence.
- 65. Other allegations indicate that Moroccan police forces regularly raid the private homes of alleged or known supporters of independence for Western Sahara, using procedures that include beating and ill-treatment of the inhabitants.
- 66. The Working Group visited the prison of Laâyoune and the Gendarmerie station in the port of Laâyoune. At the time of the Working Group's visit, there were 368 prisoners in the prison, including 36 minors. Although the Working Group was allowed to interview in private detainees of its choice in both facilities, without any restriction, the Working Group noted with serious concern that some of the interviewees expressed fear of reprisals after having spoken to the delegation.
- 67. The Working Group regrets that its meetings with civil society in Laâyoune were monitored.

- 68. With regard to the events surrounding the closure of the Gdeim Izik camp in November 2010, the Working Group was informed that 25 Sahrawi civilians had been convicted by a military court for their alleged role in the violent clashes that occurred in Western Sahara. The Working Group met with 22 of those detainees in the Salé 1 prison. It received testimonies of torture and ill-treatment and observed the deteriorating health conditions of some of the detainees due to the prison conditions. The trial has been repeatedly postponed, without reasons being provided by the court. On 17 February 2013, the military court issued its verdict, rejecting all requests to investigate the allegations of torture and refusing to order medical examinations in relation to the allegations of rape raised by several of the defendants. The military court did not issue a written judgement. The Working Group expresses concern that the allegations of torture and ill-treatment during the almost two years of pre-trial detention have not been investigated. The fact that the case is before a military, rather than a civilian, court contributes to the lack of transparency and the refusal to investigate the allegations of mistreatment.
- 69. The Working Group has subsequently been informed that a number of the detainees in the Gdeim Izik group have started hunger strikes and that their health conditions are further deteriorating.
- 70. The Working Group wishes to express its concern about the broad competence of the military court, which can try civilians accused of terrorism, illegal possession of a firearm, and so forth. Such courts are composed of military judges and military prosecutors and defence lawyers, with the exception of the court president. Information before the Working Group indicates that it is not possible to appeal the court's decisions. However, the Government has subsequently submitted that the military court is not the competent court with regard to terrorism cases and that decisions of the military court can be appealed to the Supreme Court. Clarification of the practice in this respect will therefore be a topic for the visit follow-up process.
- 71. The Working Group reiterates that the court should only be competent to try military personnel, for exclusively military offences. In this respect, the Working Group notes that a draft law on military tribunals was passed in March 2014 by the Council of Ministers presided over by King Mohamed VI. The draft law provides for the exclusion of civilians from the jurisdiction of military tribunals, regardless of the offence committed. It also allows the withdrawal of military personnel from military jurisdiction when they commit common law offences. The draft law (No. 108-13) is currently before Parliament for adoption.

VI. Conclusions

- 72. The Working Group welcomes the adoption, in July 2011, of the new Constitution, marking an important step towards the strengthening of human rights.
- 73. The Working Group believes that the establishment of National Human Rights Council (CNDH) as the independent national institution responsible for the protection and promotion of human rights is a very positive development. It has the potential to become an effective monitoring mechanism and mediator between State and citizens if its recommendations are implemented in good faith.
- 74. The Working Group notes that article 22 of the Constitution stipulates that the practice of any form of torture, by anyone, is a crime punishable by law. However, in cases related to State security, such as cases involving terrorism, membership in Islamist movements or supporters of independence for Western Sahara, the Working Group found that there is a pattern of torture and ill-treatment during arrest and in

The Working Group was informed that two of the 25 Sahrawi civilians had been released and a third individual transferred to a local hospital.

detention by police officers, in particular agents of the National Surveillance Directorate (DST). Many individuals have been coerced into making a confession and have been sentenced to imprisonment on the sole basis of that confession.

- 75. Whereas article 23 of the Constitution explicitly states that secret or arbitrary detention and enforced disappearance are crimes of the utmost gravity, and while noting measures undertaken to combat such practices, the Working Group received allegations of past and present instances of incommunicado detention and allegations that Morocco had served as a departure point, a transit country and a destination for illegal extraordinary renditions carried out in the context of the international fight against terrorism.
- 76. The Working Group also received allegations of an increase in mass arrests and violence by security forces against asylum seekers and migrants in an irregular situation, particularly in the north of the country.
- 77. Despite the legal provision for access to a lawyer in the first 24 hours after arrest in ordinary criminal cases, that provision seems not to be fully respected in practice. In addition, authorization has to be obtained from the Crown Prosecutor-General. The Working Group notes with concern that the Anti-Terrorism Act (No. 03-03) provides for police custody for up to three consecutive periods of 96 hours with no right to a lawyer, except for a half-hour monitored visit at the midpoint of those 12 days.
- 78. The Moroccan criminal judicial system relies heavily on confessions as the main evidence to support conviction. Complaints received by the Working Group indicate the use of torture by State officials to obtain evidence or confessions during initial questioning, in particular in counter-terrorism or internal security cases. The Working Group wishes to emphasize that confessions made in the absence of a lawyer are not admissible as evidence in criminal proceedings; this applies in particular to confessions made during the time spent in police custody.
- 79. The Working Group observed the excessive use of detention on remand. In general, detention as a measure of punishment still seems to be the rule rather than the exception and there is a lack of alternatives to detention. Prison overcrowding as a consequence of this situation is a serious problem, which needs to be addressed.
- 80. The Working Group found a significant number of children, some as young as 14 years old, in ordinary prisons. Reports indicate that the Prosecutor General's Office rarely requests alternative measures of detention, as provided for in articles 501 to 504 of the Code of Criminal Procedure. In addition, juveniles often remain in custody for a long period before being admitted to a child protection centre.
- 81. In Laâyoune, Western Sahara, the Working Group received numerous complaints that torture and ill-treatment were used to extract confessions, as well as complaints indicating a pattern of excessive use of force in repressing demonstrations calling for self-determination of the Sahrawi population.
- 82. Finally, the Working Group regrets that its meetings with civil society in Laâyoune were monitored.

VII. Recommendations

83. The Working Group appreciates that the Government of Morocco has already taken steps to implement some of the recommendations made by the Working Group during its visit. In a spirit of cooperation and partnership, the Working Group recommends that the Government continue to take decisive steps to implement the following recommendations:

- (a) Ensure, through amendments to legislation, that access to lawyers of a suspect's own choosing is granted from the moment of apprehension, without the presence of an investigator and without requiring the authorization of the prosecutor, including in cases of threats against national security and terrorism. It should be granted as a matter of law and any official who denies access to a lawyer should be sanctioned;
- (b) Make certain that all suspects have the right to enjoy, in practice, other basic safeguards provided for by law, which include their right to be examined by an independent physician; to contact a relative or friend; to be informed of their rights and the charges against them; and to be brought before a judge without delay;
- (c) Amend the Anti-Terrorism Act (No. 03-03) to remedy the vague definition of the crime of terrorism and reduce the period of police custody from 96 hours, renewable twice;
- (d) Amend the Code of Criminal Procedure to indicate that, where there is an allegation of torture or ill-treatment, the burden of proof lies with the prosecution to establish beyond reasonable doubt that any confession made has not been obtained by unlawful means. Allegations of torture and ill-treatment should be admitted at any stage of the trial and courts should be obliged to launch ex officio investigations whenever there are reasonable grounds to suspect torture or ill-treatment;
- (e) Take all necessary steps to ensure that criminal convictions are based on evidence other than the confession of the persons charged, especially when such persons retract their confessions during the trial, and make certain that, except in cases involving charges of torture, statements made under torture are not invoked as evidence in any proceedings, in accordance with article 15 of the Convention against Torture;
- (f) Ensure that reports prepared by the judicial police during the investigative phase remain inadmissible in the trial court until the prosecution meets the burden of proving their veracity and legal validity, in accordance with the Code of Criminal Procedure:
- (g) Review criminal convictions that have been based solely on confessions in order to identify cases in which the conviction was based on confessions obtained under torture or ill-treatment, and take the appropriate remedial measures;
- (h) Ensure strict adherence to registration from the very moment of arrest, in particular in cases involving national security and terrorism suspects; and ensure that police station chiefs and investigating officials and police officers, including members of DST, are held criminally accountable for any unacknowledged detention;
- (i) Strengthen efforts to combat incommunicado and secret detention, in accordance with article 23 of the Constitution;
- (j) Conduct effective and impartial investigations into all cases of extraordinary renditions in which the State may have played a role, bring to light the facts surrounding such cases, and prosecute and punish those responsible for such renditions:
- (k) Reform the judicial system to guarantee that all pretrial detainees receive a fair and speedy trial;
- (l) In order to combat the severe overcrowding in prisons, use alternatives to pretrial detention, in accordance with the United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for Non-custodial Measures (the Tokyo Rules) and study the possibility of decriminalizing certain offences and of reducing prison sentences. A system could be

devised for arranging bail and making more frequent use of non-custodial penalties in the case of less serious offences;

- (m) Continue the commitment to strengthening CNDH and to providing it with all the necessary means to ensure its proper functioning;
- (n) Take concrete and sustained measures to finalize the process of ratification of the Optional Protocol to the Convention against Torture, and subsequently establish an effective national preventive mechanism, in accordance with article 17 of the Optional Protocol; and initiate an inclusive consultation process of all actors involved, including civil society organizations;
- (o) Ensure budgetary allocations to provide the national preventive mechanism with sufficient human and other resources to enable it to inspect all places of detention regularly, receive complaints, and initiate prosecutions and follow them through to their conclusion;
- (p) With regard to migrants, refugees and asylum seekers, work in closer cooperation with the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, the Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants and other United Nations entities;
- (q) Take all necessary measures to prevent mass arrests and further violence and investigate reports of violence against sub-Saharan migrants, refugees and asylum seekers;
- (r) Ensure that the legal safeguards governing the practice of escorting undocumented migrants to the borders and the expulsion of foreign nationals are effectively enforced and that such practices and expulsions are carried out in accordance with international and domestic law. The Government should undertake impartial, effective investigations into allegations that, during expulsions, migrants have been subjected to ill-treatment or excessive use of force. It should also ensure that those responsible are brought to justice and receive sentences that are commensurate with the seriousness of their acts;
- (s) Consider alternative and non-custodial measures, such as reporting requirements, before resorting to the detention of migrants, refugees and asylum seekers;
- (t) Establish a system of regular visits to police stations, with a specific focus on juvenile offenders; not hold juveniles in regular prisons, but in child protection centres; and investigate all complaints of torture and ill-treatment of juveniles, in particular allegations of corporal punishment;
- (u) Consider amending article 473 of the Code of Criminal Procedure to change the age at which a juvenile offender can be imprisoned from 12 to 18 years, and stress that the imprisonment of juveniles is an exceptional measure;
- $(v) \quad \mbox{Provide specialized prosecutors and specialized judicial police officers for cases involving juvenile offenders;}$
- (w) Take effective measures to prevent reprisals, including intimidation, disciplinary measures and ill-treatment, against detainees, victims of arbitrary detention and their families, activists and others who spoke to the Working Group during its visit, and to promptly investigate and punish the perpetrators of acts of reprisal;

- (x) Consider amending article 134 of the Criminal Code in order to ensure that all offenders suffering from a mental disability are placed in a psychiatric institution, regardless of the degree of the offence;
- (y) With regard to Laâyoune, Western Sahara, investigate promptly all allegations of torture and ill-treatment in the context of arrests during and after demonstrations and at the prison of Laâyoune; prevent instances of arbitrary deprivation of liberty; hold the perpetrators accountable: and provide compensation to the victims;
- (z) Expeditiously adopt the draft law on military tribunals in order to ensure that civilians are not sentenced by a military court, and review the verdicts handed down by the military court in the case of the 25 Sahrawi men in the Gdeim Izik case.